
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ADVANCED PUBLICATION OF 
REPORTS 

 
 
 

This publication gives five clear working days’ notice of the decisions listed below. 
 

These decisions are due to be signed by individual Cabinet Members 
and operational key decision makers. 

 
Once signed all decisions will be published on the Council’s 

Publication of Decisions List. 
 
 
 
 
1. MERIDIAN WATER HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND - APPROVAL 

TO AWARD RAIL PROJECT MANAGEMENT OFFICE FOR THE 
STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS  (Pages 1 - 16) 

 
2. ENFIELD BLUE & GREEN STRATEGY  (Pages 17 - 100) 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note Part 2 report is now confidential appendix. 
 

 PL 20/068 P Part 1 
 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
Portfolio Report 
 
Report of Programme Director Meridian Water 
 

 
Subject:   Meridian Water Housing Infrastructure Fund – Approval 

to Award Rail Project Management Office for the 
Strategic Infrastructure Works  

 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Nesil Caliskan, The Leader of the Council 
 
Executive Director: Sarah Cary, Executive Director - Place 
 
Ward:                        Upper Edmonton 
   
Key Decision: 4888 
 

 
 
Purpose of Report 

1. Meridian Water Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF)– Approval to Award Project 
Management Services for the Strategic Rail Infrastructure Works (SRIW) 
contract 

Proposal(s) 

2. Approve the appointment of Bidder A to provide project management,   
cost consultancy and principal designer for the delivery of the HIF Rail 
Works through the Transport for London Professional Services 
Framework 2  Project & Programme Management Services. 

3. Authorise expenditure for the scope of services and contingency costs 
set out within the body of this report.  

4. Note budget and funding sources for the expenditure (see Confidential 
Appendix). 

Reason for Proposal(s) 

5. The SRIW funded by the HIF required in the early stages of the programme to 
unlock further development Meridian Water scheme. The proposal will enable 
housing development, boost local economy and employment, and contribute 
to health and wellbeing of local communities.  

6.  The Council needs to complete the rail works by March 2024 in order to 
claim the full amount of available funding. HIF grant may only be claimed by 
the Council until 31st March 2024 and the Council can submit claims in 
respect of expenses incurred up to this date. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

 

7. The expenditure for the tasks set out within this report are to be funded from 
within the existing Capital Programme initially and the amount spent by March 
2024 will be reimbursed from the HIF funding on a quarterly basis. 

8. It is key that an infrastructure project of this scale and complexity is managed 
by the right project management firm to ensure the required level of 
experience and expertise. 

9. The procurement through the Transport for London Professional Services 

Framework 2 Project & Programme Management Services was identified as 

preferred and approved by the Council as an operational decision made on 

19th May 2020. 

Relevance to the Council’s Corporate Plan 

10. This appointment would contribute to the Council’s priorities: 

a) Good homes in well-connected neighbourhoods 

The recommendation in this report do provide the authority to award a 
contract to a rail PMO consultancy services to manage the HIF Rail 
Works. The HIF Rail Works will unlock new housing development in 
Meridian Water. 

b)  Safe, health and confident communities 

The HIF Rail Works will include ecological and diversity assessments in 

line with Network Rail standards. The rail works will contribute to the 

achievement of long-term carbon emission goals, through improved 

energy efficiency, helping others make more carbon efficient journeys, 

which reduces the need to use a car. These works can also contribute to 

the health and wellbeing of the existing and future communities in the 

area. 

c)  An economy that works for everyone 

The delivery of strategic rail works will unlock the Meridian Water area and 
significantly increase accessibility of the site, especially by public 
transport. It is expected that increased accessibility will support local 
businesses, as well as attract new jobs and business growth in the area 
supporting Enfield residents and the local economy. 

 

Background 

Introduction 

11. In July 2018, Cabinet Approved the scope of Housing Infrastructure Fund, a 
central government funding programme enabling a delivery of strategic 

Page 2



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

infrastructure at the Meridian Water scheme (see Housing Infrastructure Fund 
Cabinet Report dated 25 July 2018 (KD 4711)). It also approved planning 
strategy for HIF delivery works and delegated authority to the Programme 
Director – Meridian Water to authorise procurement procedure. 

12. In August 2019, Central Government announced that the Council’s bid had 
been successful. The detailed terms and conditions of the grant agreement 
are currently being negotiated and it is envisaged that the parties will enter 
into the agreement in October 2020. Availability of funding will be contingent 
on the Council satisfying certain conditions to funding 

13.  All claims for HIF funding must be submitted by 31st March 2024. To ensure 
timely delivery ahead of the funding deadline, the Council is commencing with 
the necessary procurements in advance of entry into the HIF grant agreement 
and confirmation that all conditions to funding have been satisfied. It is 
envisaged that the grant agreement will be entered into in Q4 2020. 

14. A need has been identified to appoint an external project management 
consultancy to carry out the role of Project Manager, Cost consultant and PD 
for the HIF rail project. It is envisaged that the new project management 
consultancy will come on board late October 2020, so they can progress the 
negotiations with DfT, Network Rail and other key industry stakeholders prior 
to the main contractor being appointed in September 2021.  

15. On the 26th of June, Delivery Director - Meridian Water approved the 
procurement of the project management services for the delivery of the HIF 
Site Works through the Transport for London Professional Services 
Framework  

Scope of Services 

16. The proposed contract award is seeking to appoint the project management, 
cost consultant and principal designer consultancy services for the delivery of 
the SRIW. 

17. The new Project Management Team will be fully integrated and form part of 
the ‘client’s team’. This will assist the council in exercise of its duties as client 
under the forthcoming contracts for design and delivery of the infrastructure. 
The purpose of the Project Manager’s role is to ensure that the Main 
Contractor executes the contracted works safely, on programme and to the 
agreed Contract Sum. 

18. The new Project Management Team will be required to fulfil specific duties for 
each of the project stages. 

Pre- Contract –  

o Carry out the pre-contract duties of the Project Manager noted within the appended 
scope of service. 

o Manage the stakeholder process such that the project is successful through the Final 
Business Case (Decision to Deliver) with the DfT. 

o Carry out the relevant Project Manager duties required by the Professional Team  
o Manage and Monitor Performance of the design and city economics team in 

accordance with the defined KPIs’ 

Page 3



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

o Manage the change control process 
o Attendance at all meetings required by the council in regard to the SIW 
 

Contract Period - NEC4 

o Carry out the contract duties of the Project Manager  
o Carry out the relevant Project Manager duties required by the Professional Team 
o Carry out Project Management duties required by the NEC4 ECC any other duties 

required under the contract. 
o Manage and Monitor Performance of the Contractor in accordance with the defined 

KPIs’ 
o Manage the change control process 
o Undertake the administration duties of the Construction Contracts. 
o Manage any compensation events and advise on damages 
o Support the council in discharge of planning and funding conditions 
o Attendance at all meetings required by the council in regard to the SRIW 
 

Post Contract 

o Carry out the post contract duties of the Project Manager noted within the appended 
scope of service. 

o Carry out the relevant Project Manager duties required by the Professional Team 
o Manage and Monitor Performance of the Contractor in accordance with the defined 

KPIs’ 
o Manage the collation of handover documentation 
o Manage the defects process and provide final sign off in conjunction with the retained 

design team. 
o Attendance at all meetings required by the council in regard to the SRIW 
 

 

Procurements Process 

19. The Procurement and Commissioning Board agreed procurement through the 
Transport for London  Professional Services Framework 2 Project & 
Programme Management Services on 19th of May 2020, as it offers a fast, 
efficient and OJEU compliant route, removing the need to undertake a costly 
and time-consuming full OJEU procurement process. Furthermore, the 
Transport for London Framework was approved for use within the Council 
and offered the wide range of services required as well as a good list of 
suitable suppliers. 

20.  Given the fact that the estimated value of the scope of services exceeded the 
OJEU threshold, the procurement process was run as a two-stage 
procurement process: 

  1.) Expression of Interest (determine interest) 

  2.) Invitation to Further Competition (select successful supplier) 

21. The outcomes of each stage are explained in Confidential Appendix. 

Contract 

22. All suppliers on the TfL Professional Services Framework 2 Project & 
Programme Management Services have been appointed under framework 
contracts, which have been prepared by TfL's Legal Services. The successful 
supplier will be appointed in accordance with the Framework Agreement 

Page 4



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

which provides that required services can be drawn down by issuing an 
Instruction to the Consultant. The Framework Agreement provides a template 
Instruction Form that will need to be completed on behalf of Enfield. 

Cost and Funding  

23. See Confidential Appendix 

Main Considerations for the Council 

24. Following award of the contract the newly procured project management and 
consultancy will work in collaboration with the Contractor to drive the delivery 
of the HIF Rail Works under the contractual arrangements of the Contractor’s 
appointment and within the context of the Council’s vision and objectives. 

25. Given the funding deadline of March 2024 to deliver the HIF Rail Works. As 
timely delivery is of importance, the activities of the Project Management 
Team should be persistently conducive to adequately resource and 
administer the project aimed at ‘on time’ and ‘on budget’ delivery of the works. 

26. It is aimed to get the new Project Management Team appointed prior to GRIP 
3 (October 2020)  

27. The successful bidder demonstrated the required expertise and experience to 
deliver the tasks set out in this report. The procurement used the Transport 
for London Professional Services Framework 2 Project & Programme 
Management Services to ensure quality and value for money.  

28. As explained in Relevance to the Council’s Corporate Plan, this appointment 
is instrumental to unlocking development that contributes to the Council’s 
priorities.  

Safeguarding Implications 

29. The recommendations in this report do not have any safeguarding 
implications. 

Public Health Implications 

30. The appointment of a project management team service in themselves do not 
have any significant public health implications. 

Equalities Impact of the Proposal  

31. Corporate advice has been sought in regard to equalities and an agreement 
has been reached that an equalities impact assessment is neither relevant 
nor proportionate for the approval of this report. 

32. Framework Contract stipulates that the consultant shall not, and shall take all 
reasonable steps to procure that no employee, servant or agent of the 
Consultant engaged in the provision of the Services shall, unlawfully 
discriminate within the meaning and scope of the provisions of the Sex 
Discrimination Act 1975, the Equality Act 2010 or the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Page 5



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  

33. It should also be noted that the appointed Consultant will project manage the 
SRIW contractor with the evaluation Criteria for the HIF contractor role 
including questions on Sustainability and Climate Change will be included in 
the rail contractor appointment. In addition, the overall Meridian Water 
development is being designed to be carbon positive, with whole life carbon 
emissions being reduced over time and offsetting being put in place. 

Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 

34. Delivery of strategic rail infrastructure at Meridian Water could fail or be 
delayed if project management support needed is not secured in time. 

35. Council’s housing and employment objectives could be put at risk if 
infrastructure necessary to unlock development is not delivered in time. 

Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 

36. Housing Infrastructure Funding is not or only partially secured   

MHCLG has announced that the bid for funding has been successful. 
However, the award of funds will be subject to negotiation of detailed terms 
and the satisfaction of various pre-contract conditions. The services included 
in this commission related to the HIF Rail Works will initially be covered from 
the Meridian Water Capital Programme and ultimately refunded form the HIF 
funding. 

Mitigation: If HIF funding is not or only partially secured, the Council will look 
to secure GLA funding, private funding and council funding to fund the SIW. 
None of the work undertaken as part of HIF delivery will be abortive and will 
contribute to strengthening the deliverability of scheme. In a case HIF funding 
agreement is not met for the project none of the work undertaken will be 
abortive. 

37. The appointed team does not provide value for money 

The successful bidder does not offer value for money.  

Mitigation: The successful bidder is an established firm with extensive 
experience delivering the services required. The Council received three 
tenders back and the successful bidder offered the economically most 
advantageous bid. 

38. Financial security of the appointed bidder 

Suppliers informed the Council that under TFL Framework Agreement they 
are  obliged to provide a Parent Company Guarantee.  This form of financial 
security is appropriate for a consultant in this role.  

Mitigation: All suppliers on the Transports for London Framework have 
undergone rigorous financial evaluation. Furthermore, as part of the ITT stage 

Page 6



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

an assessment of economic and financial standing has been carried out to 
ensure suppliers are financially sound. Up to date financial records will be 
maintained on all Framework members. If insufficient information is available 
in the public domain Transport for London Customer Due Diligence team may 
be in touch to request additional information in order to get comfort of 
continued good standing. The Instructions for Tendering stipulate that The 
Council will continue to monitor the financial standing and stability of the 
tenderer. The Tenderer shall notify the Council of any circumstances that it 
considers will have a material impact on the financial standing of the 
Tenderer. 

39. Discontinuity of Project Management arrangements results in loss of 
valuable time and knowledge on the project 

The Project Management Team to be appointed through this procurement will 
need to build up knowledge of the project in order to efficiently and effectively 
carry out their responsibilities and the knowledge and expertise of the existing 
project management consultancy will be lost. 

Mitigation: The Invitation to Tender for the Project Management services 
included full details of the HIF Site Works Project. Furthermore, it is aimed to 
get the new Project Management Team on board before the responsibilities of 
the current management come to an end in order to allow the Team to get up 
to speed.  

Financial Implications 

40.  See Confidential Appendix. 

Legal Implications 

MD 9th October 2020 (based on report received on 8th October 2020 at 
14:28) 
 

41. The Council has the power under s.1(1) Localism Act (2011) to do anything 
individuals generally may do providing it is not prohibited by legislation and 
subject to Public Law principles. There is no express prohibition, restriction or 
limitation contained in a statute against use of the power in this way. The 
Council therefore has sufficient powers to enter into the contract as proposed 
in this report. 

42. The public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
requires the Council to have due regard to: (i) the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; and (ii) the need to advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. Officers have confirmed (para 31 above) 
that there are no equalities implications in agreeing the recommendations in 
this report. It is recommended that further advice is obtained throughout the 
strategic infrastructure works programme to ensure that any required equality 

Page 7



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

impact assessments are completed, updated and duly considered by the 
Council.  

43. The Council must comply with all requirements of its Constitution (including its 
Procurement Procedure Rules) and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 in 
respect of the procurement and award of contract for project management 
and services. The Procurement Procedure Rules and Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 permit the Council to call-off from an existing framework if 
the framework terms permit. The Transport for London Framework permits 
local authorities to call-off from it and sets out the procedures for calling-off 
contracts. The resulting call-off contract must be based on the framework 
terms and the Council must ensure that it follows the rules of the Framework. 

44. Given the value of the proposed contract, the appointed contractor will be 
required to provide security in the form of a parent company guarantee.  
 

45. It is proposed that the contract fees will be funded by HIF grant funding to be 
made available by MHCLG. Although the Council’s bid for HIF funding was 
successful, MHCLG and the Council are yet to enter into an agreement in 
respect of HIF funding. Any contract entered into, or any expenditure incurred 
by the Council prior to entry into the HIF grant agreement and prior to 
receiving formal confirmation that any preconditions to funding have been 
met, is at the Council’s own risk. Any services provided after 31st March 2024 
will not be recoverable out of the HIF grant funding. Unless otherwise agreed 
by MHCLG, the Council will be required to provide to MHCLG with a copy of 
the executed project management contract as well as a collateral warranty 
from the contractor in favour of MHCLG as a condition to funding. 

46. Throughout the engagement of the contractor, the Council must comply with 
its obligations of obtaining best value as set out in the Local Government Act 
1999. 

47. All legal agreements arising from the matters described in this report must be 
approved in advance of contract commencement by the Director of Law and 
Governance. Given the anticipated contract value, the contract must be 
sealed and retained by Legal Services for safekeeping. 

48. The anticipated contract value exceeds £500,000. Therefore, this is a Key 
Decision, and the Council must comply with its Key Decision procedure.  

Workforce Implications 

49. Due to the nature of this appointment, it is clear that the London Borough of 
Enfield does not have the required rail PMO expertise to progress the project. 
It is therefore appropriate to engage an industry respected rail PMO to 
manage the project on behalf of the Council.   

Property Implications 

50. There are no property implications arising directly from this report however it 
is anticipated that there may be future Property Implications as each section 
of the works progresses. Any future reports arising as a result of these 

Page 8



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

proposals will need to be further reviewed and when property transactions are 
included Strategic Property Services will comment on the individual deals. 

Other Implications 

Procurement Implications 

provided by Samantha Rose on 06/10/2020 

51. The tender was a call-off from the Transport for London Professional Services 
Framework 2  Project & Programme Management Services 2019/S 124-
303043. Due diligence was carried out by the Procurement and 
Commissioning Hub (P&C Hub) on the Council’s ability to use the framework. 
Other frameworks were also considered but the Transport for London 
Framework was chosen as it is a specialist rail framework and contained a 
wide range of suitable suppliers. The tender process commenced with an 
Expression of Interest, all of the framework suppliers expressed an interest in 
tendering,  the project was mini tendered to 10 providers in accordance with 
the guidelines provided by Transport for London who operate the framework. 
The tender returns were evaluated by members of the Meridian Water Rail 
Team and an external rail expert, a final moderation meeting was held on 2 
October 2020 where the scores and final comments were agreed. The P&C 
Hub were involved in the procurement and the process was carried out fairly 
and transparently.  

52. The tendered rates were compared with the competitively tendered 
framework rates and were lower than the tendered framework rates.  

53. The procurement was undertaken using the London Tenders Portal (ref 
DN478435). 

54. A business case was presented to the Procurement & Commissioning Review 
Board on 19th of May 2020 where the procurement route was reviewed and 
approved. 

55. The award of the contract, including evidence of authority to procure and 
award promoting to the Councils Contract Register, and the uploading of 
executed contracts must be undertaken on the  London Tenders Portal 
including future management of the contract. 

56. The awarded contract must be promoted to Contracts Finder to comply with 
the Government’s transparency requirements. 

 

Options Considered 

57. Do nothing 

Doing nothing would leave the Council without the support needed to for the 
delivery of strategic infrastructure and phase delivery at Meridian Water 
delaying provision of much needed affordable homes.  

Page 9



   

 

PL 20.068 P Part 1 

58. Re-tender 

The Council received three valid tender responses, which demonstrated a 
good understanding of the Council’s requirements and value for money. 
Retendering the scope of services is unlikely to lead to better tender 
responses. Retendering would lead to a delay of the timings of the project, 
leaving the Council without the support needed for the delivery of strategic 
infrastructure and phase delivery at Meridian Water.  

Conclusions 

59. Strategic Rail Infrastructure Works (SRIW) are required in the early stages of 
the programme to unlock further development Meridian Water scheme. The 
proposal will enable housing development, boost local economy and 
employment, and contribute to health and wellbeing of local communities.  

60. It is key that the right project management arrangements are in place to 
ensure the required level of experience and expertise to manage large 
infrastructure project to deliver the SIW. 

61. Procurement approach has been approved and rigorous evaluation of bidders 
was undertaken to ensure best value for the Council. It is therefore 
recommended to appoint the successful bidder as to enable future 
development at Meridian Water. 

 

Report Author: Michael King  
 Meridian Water Rail Lead  
 michael.king2@enfield.gov.uk 
 +44 (0)2081 323059 
 
12.08.2020 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Confidential Appendix 

 
 

Page 10



Document is Restricted

Page 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note Part 2 report is now confidential appendix. 
 
 
 

PL 20/05235P 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
Portfolio Report 
 
Meeting Date           3 November 2020  
 

 
Subject:   [Enfield Blue & Green Strategy] 
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Guney Dogan 
 
Executive Director: [Sarah Cary] 
 
Key Decision: [5235] 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. This report seeks approval to publish and consult on the draft “Enfield Blue & 

Green Strategy – Valuing our Parks and Open Spaces and Waterways” over 
a 4-week period from 16 November to 14 December 2020 and submit the 
final version to Cabinet and Full Council approval, following the close of the 
consultation.  

 
2. The Enfield Blue and Green Strategy sets out our long-term approach to the 

protection, management and expansion of the borough’s blue and green 
network, with an ambition to become the greenest borough in London. The 
strategy forms a key part of our response to the climate change emergency 
and the covid-19 crisis to improve the quality of life and wellbeing of the 
borough.  It also sets out how we will be contributing towards London’s status 
as a “national park city” (as set out Mayor of London’s Environment 
Strategy). 

 
3. The consultation draft of the strategy (see attached at appendix 1) will be 

published alongside the audit of the quality, quantity and accessibility of the 
borough’s blue and green network, including parks, open spaces, woodlands, 
rivers and wildlife sites.  

 
4. The strategy represents an update of the current Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy and Biodiversity Action Plan. The new document will become an 
overarching strategy for other key documents to either feed into or flow from 
and setting the wider context. It will also help achieve the borough’s aim of 
being zero carbon by 2040.  

 
5. Once adopted, the strategy will set out the priorities that will inform the 

determination of planning applications and investment decisions through the 
capital programme alongside other relevant corporate strategies, including 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Local Flood Risk Management 

Page 17 Agenda Item 2



PL 20/05235P 

Strategy, Tree Management Strategy, Parks and Open Spaces - Outdoor 
Events Policy, Playing Pitch Strategy, Heritage Strategy and Climate Action 
Plan. The strategy will also form part of the evidence base to inform the new 
Local Plan and the development of planning policies relating to blue-green 
infrastructure and biodiversity/nature recovery networks.  

 
Proposal(s) 
 
6. Cabinet Member for Environment and Sustainability is asked to approve the 

public consultation on the draft Enfield Blue & Green Strategy (see appendix 
1) from 16 November to 14 December 2020 and supporting evidence. 

 
Reason for Proposal(s) 
 
 
7. The previous Parks and Open Spaces Strategy (2010-2020) expires this 

year. There is currently no long-term integrated approach to delivering high 
quality blue and green infrastructure in the borough as part of the place-
making agenda. A new strategy relating to the planning and management of 
the borough’s blue and green network is needed to deliver the aspirations 
and priorities set out in the new Council Plan, Climate Action Plan and 
existing adopted Local Plans as well as new legislative requirements. 
Specific advantages of having a blue and green strategy include:  

 

 supporting the delivery of the current adopted Local Plan (including policies 
set out in the Core Strategy, Development Management, North Circular Area 
Action Plan, North East Area Action Plan and Edmonton Leeside Action 
Plan) to help determine planning applications;  

 
 defining our approach to climate change mitigation and adaptation on the 

natural environment, in response to the targets set out in the Climate Action 
Plan (including a net increase of green cover of around 25%);  
 

 creating positive outcomes to the covid-19 and public health response 
through coordinated action to deliver multiple benefits, such as reduced 
stress and anxiety (e.g. interaction with nature) and physical exercise;   
 

 creating innovative solutions to address long-standing structural deficiencies 
within the existing green and blue network (including poor east-west links, 
exposure to air pollution, uneven distribution of open space, vulnerability to 
flood risk and poor sense of arrival);   
 

 achieving a more equitable distribution: direct future interventions (e.g. new 
open space) to areas of deficiency within deprived wards (as per the 
recommendations of the Poverty & Inequality Commission Report); 
 

 promoting Enfield’s assets and partnership-working through volunteering and 
education programmes and encouraging local ownership of projects; 
 

 addressing the ongoing management requirements of various service areas, 
including events (Parks and Open Spaces - Outdoor Events Policy) and 
long-term maintenance;   

Page 18



PL 20/05235P 

 

 updating existing strategies and evidence: The Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy (including the accompanying audit) and the Biodiversity Action Plan 
are now significantly out of date. The quality, quantity and accessibility of the 
borough’s parks, open spaces, nature conservation sites and other 
designations (e.g. historic landscapes) needs to be reviewed against the 
latest standards from best practice and national planning policy guidance;  
 

 meeting new legislative requirements (as proposed in the new Environment 
Bill) and revised national (National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and 25 
Year Environment Strategy) and regional policies (current adopted London 
Plan). This includes a commitment to biodiversity net gain;   
 

 providing a clear framework to strengthen the borough’s focus on protecting 
and enhancing wildlife-rich habitats and protected areas (e.g. Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation) to create a bigger and more connected 
nature recovery network;  
 

 developing a clear and robust mitigation strategy to address impacts of new 
development arising from recreational pressure on the integrity of a nearby 
site of international nature conservation importance (Epping Forest Special 
Area of Conservation);  
 

 supporting/enabling sustainable growth and quality place-making through 
the integration of green and blue infrastructure within new development to 
meet future demands (e.g. Meridian Water and healthy streets programme); 
and  
 

 strengthening the approach to delivery and implementation of green and 
blue infrastructure using digitised mapping/platforms, new stakeholder 
forums and innovative funding mechanisms (e.g. combined contributions). 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Corporate Plan 
 
8. The strategy set out in this report has been developed to support the 

overarching priorities set out in the Council Plan, namely: 
 
Good homes in well-connected neighbourhoods: 
 
9. The provision of high quality green and blue infrastructure is recognised as 

essential component of sustainable and inclusive communities, particularly in 
the face of climate change and the ongoing health crisis. Delivery of new 
affordable homes must go hand-in-hand with supporting infrastructure, such 
as new public parks, public spaces and routes, connecting neighbourhoods 
to services and the street network. Enfield’s ambitious growth and place-
making agenda offers a significant opportunity to develop healthier, cleaner 
and environmentally resilient places where people of all ages and 
backgrounds can enjoy good access to nature and open spaces. Green and 
blue infrastructure needs to be carefully planned to unlock growth 
opportunities and facilitate site development, especially along existing river 
corridors in association with new housing and employment opportunities. The 
approach set out in the strategy is to integrate parks and other public spaces 

Page 19



PL 20/05235P 

into the heart of the borough’s physical environment through partnership 
working and major strategic interventions (e.g. improvements to the public 
realm) to strengthen the connection between people and their local 
communities.  

 
Sustain strong and healthy communities:  
 
10. The recent covid-19 crisis has highlighted the importance of our parks, open 

spaces, trees and waterways to the health and well-being of our 
communities.  As the population of the borough continues to grow and 
becomes more diverse, greater demands will be placed on existing 
infrastructure and services, with existing open spaces and natural habitats 
under increasing pressure from development. Coordinated action is needed 
to ensure that sufficient infrastructure capacity and funding is available to 
support the borough’s growing communities (e.g. improved links between 
communities, food-growing opportunities and new sport and recreation 
facilities) and build resilience against the threats of climate change and poor 
health, especially in areas of greatest need. In response, this strategy sets 
out how we will work with the local community and our partners to create 
opportunities to get more people visiting and enjoying our parks, open 
spaces and waterways, improve community safety and increase the 
prevalence of walking and cycling. 

 
Build our local economy to create a thriving place: 
 
11. The proposals set out in this strategy will help to kick-start the local economy 

and green recovery post lockdown and incentivise more sustainable means 
of transport, such as cycling and walking to reduce emissions and improve 
the health of our residents. Enfield’s green and blue network is worth millions 
of pounds to the local economy as it increases property values, visitor 
numbers and business occupancy rates. This strategy seeks to capitalise on 
Enfield’s unique offer as a visitor designation and green borough and help 
promote London’s identity as a world-class national park city. We want to 
build on this to attract more green businesses and stimulate investment and 
activity within our town centres and growth areas, as we recover from covid-
19 and the uncertain economic climate. We want to use green and blue 
infrastructure to create more attractive and thriving places where people want 
to live, work and enjoy leisure/culture.  

 
Background 
 
12. Blue and green infrastructure encompasses all of the ‘green’ (such parks, 

open spaces, street trees and routes) and ‘blue’ (such as reservoirs, lakes 
and waterways) elements of the landscape that contribute to the well-being 
of the borough’s communities and its environment, quality of place and 
economic success.   
 

13. Blue and green infrastructure forms an integral part of the identity and open 
character of the borough. Enfield boasts more green and blue spaces than 
most parts of London, offering access to a wide range of parks, historic 
landscapes, woodland and nationally and internationally important 
conservation sites like Epping Forest and Lee Valley Regional Park. Over 

Page 20



PL 20/05235P 

40% of the borough lies within the Green Belt and areas of Metropolitan 
Open Land. 
 

14. London has recent been awarded the status of a ‘national park city’ owing to 
the quality and diversity of its spaces and habitats. Enfield’s green setting 
and its proximity to national and internationally important assets on the edge 
of the city makes it an ideal location in which to trailblaze and pilot strategic 
projects (e.g. Enfield Chase) as part of the national park city programme (as 
set out in the Mayor of London’s Environment Strategy).   
 

15. However, parts of the network remain fragmentated and inaccessible to the 
public, with significant disparities between the east and west of the borough 
in terms of access to open spaces and nature. Urgent action is also needed 
to address the continuing decline of wildlife and open spaces across the 
borough and reduce emissions. 
 

16. In the face of these challenges, we need to develop a long term approach to 
effectively coordinate and guide the future planning and implementation of 
blue and green infrastructure across our key growth areas and development 
sites, in line with the place-making principles set out in the council’s adopted 
Local Plan and adopted London Plan, and the targets set out in the Climate 
Action Plan. This strategy will also compliment the forthcoming Culture 
Strategy, Economic Development Strategy and Infrastructure Delivery Plan.   
 

17. We need to update the existing assessment of our green and blue spaces 
(Enfield Open Space and Sports Assessment) to gain a more detailed 
understanding of future needs and requirements (including deficiencies and 
surpluses) in the light of changing circumstances. We also need to review the 
borough’s nature conservation sites of local and national importance.   

 
18. The findings of the Blue and Green Strategy are based on the following 

evidence base documents: 

 

 Open space and sites of nature conservation importance audit data (LUC 
consultants). 

 Active travel maps (healthy streets). 

 Mapinfo files (e.g. watercourses, private gardens, public rights of way, tree 
and woodland coverage etc). 

 Green infrastructure focus map (London Datastore, Mayor of London).  

 

19. The Blue and Green Strategy will have a 10-year shelf life but will be kept 
under regular review. It will be updated once the new Enfield Local Plan has 
been formally adopted. In the interim, the strategy will help implement the 
strategic objectives and policies set out in the existing adopted Local Plans 
(especially in terms of: managing flood risk, protecting biodiversity, improving 
east-west connectivity, improving access to open and green spaces, 
preserving the open character of the borough, creating a more integrated 

Page 21



PL 20/05235P 

green and blue network  and creating safer and more accessible 
environments1) and the adopted London Plan.    

 

20. We have a strong track record of working with academics and practitioners to 
develop pilots (e.g. sustainable drainage systems) and model systems on 
water/land management practices in the borough. We have also held award-
winning festivals and events in our parks and town centres.  Enfield is also 
home to some of London’s largest environmental projects, such as Enfield 
Chase woodland restoration and Salmons Brooks wetlands programme. We 
want build on this success.  

 

21. We also want to set up new partnerships to help coordinate and deliver new 
projects and secure greater community/stakeholder buy-in. We will also set 
up new online interactive tools to allow the public and other stakeholders to 
prioritise issues and investigate potential future project opportunities.  

 

22. The aims of the Blue and Green Strategy are to:  
 
a) promote a long-term vision to support the creation, enhancement and 

continued protection of the borough’s green and blue network, in consultation 
with relevant stakeholders and partner organisations, at the heart of the new 
national park city;   

b) define the locations where blue-green infrastructure will be prioritised, 
especially areas of deficiency within deprived wards;  

c) establish the strategic priorities and highlight the opportunities to expand the 
network through new initiatives and programmes; 

d) steer the scale, location and timing of blue and green infrastructure to support 
new development that will be brought forward over the next 10 years; 

e) act as a positive tool to guide the delivery and masterplanning of the 
borough’s flagship programmes (e.g. Meridian Water and estate regeneration 
schemes);  

f) establish an action plan which can be regularly updated and inform the 
operational requirements and day-to-day management of the various service 
functions, including on-going maintenance; and   

g) provide detailed guidance and evidence to support the existing and emerging 
local Plans and other relevant strategies (e.g. Infrastructure Delivery Plan). 

 
23.  Our ambition is to be internationally recognised as a leading green and 

climate-resilient borough. We are committed to making Enfield the greenest 
borough in London.  

 
24. The strategy sets out an ambitious programme of projects and interventions 

to achieve this vision. Some of the key projects set out in the strategy 
include: 

 

                                                 
1
 These priorities are taken from the strategic objectives of the adopted Core Strategy (see 

https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/planning/local-plan/planning-policy-information-enfield-core-
strategy.pdf)  

Page 22

https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/planning/local-plan/planning-policy-information-enfield-core-strategy.pdf
https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/planning/local-plan/planning-policy-information-enfield-core-strategy.pdf


PL 20/05235P 

 Enfield Chase - over 300 hectares of new publicly accessible woodland and 
rewilding initiatives, creating a continuous corridor of landscape parkland on 
the edge of the main built area;  

 Enfield Sports Village – a major expansion of the existing sports hub to 
create world-class facilities at Enfield Playing Fields; 

 expansion of the borough’s cycle and pedestrian network (including new 
walking and cycle routes from Enfield Town to Broxbourne and from Fore 
Street to Meridian Water) as part of the healthy streets programme;  

 expansion of the open space and route network to improve links to the Lee 
Valley Regional Park – new public parks, sport facilities and routes, 
reconnecting deprived communities to the waterfront;  

 Green Loop – a new circuitous route along the river valleys from the open 
countryside through densely populated urban areas to link east-to-west and 
north-to-south;  

 grey-to-green gateways – a series of public realm interventions (sustainable 
drainage systems) along key gateways leading into town centres and growth 
areas; and  

 an ongoing programme of wetland projects to restore Enfield’s urban rivers 
(Salmons Brook, Pymmes Brook and Turkey Brook) and re-naturalise the 
water system across the Lea catchment area.   

 
25. We also seek to prioritise interventions across the corridors (e.g. river 

valleys, country parks and linear spaces) and nodes/hubs (e.g. town centre 
gateways) of the network and link the various elements of the borough’s blue 
and green infrastructure (parks, woodland, water features, links and habitats 
etc) together to create an integrated network. These various interventions are 
shown on the key diagram set out in appendix 1.   

 
26. Future projects will be identified through regular reviews and updates to the 

Enfield Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
 
Main Considerations for the Council  

27. The purpose of presenting this report is to seek approval to consult on the 
Blue and Green Strategy over a 4-week period from Monday 16 November to 
Monday 14 December 2020. 

28. The future adoption of this strategy will ensure that the council continues to 
meet the priorities set out in the Council Plan and has an effective 
mechanism in place to deliver the protection and enhancement of the 
borough’s blue and green infrastructure network, whilst also providing 
essential new green and blue infrastructure to support new development.  

29. The draft consultation version of the Blue and Green Strategy is attached as 
an appendix. It includes diagrams, maps and a summary of the document.  
We will also publish the findings of the audit at the same time.  

 
30. As part of the consultation, we will: 
 

 hold online workshops with both local community groups and external 
stakeholders, including statutory agencies; 

Page 23



PL 20/05235P 

 make hard copies available at the four library hubs: Enfield Town, Edmonton 
Green, Palmers Green and Ordnance Road;  

 prepare a statement setting out how the local community and stakeholders 
have influenced the preparation of the document; and 

 use social media and Let’s Talk Enfield to publicise the consultation and 
raise awareness. 

 
31. We will review and consider the consultation responses received and prepare 

a consultation statement setting out how it intends to respond to points made 
by representors.  The updated strategy, audit and consultation statement will 
be presented to Cabinet/Full Council following the consultation in February 
2021, with a view to securing formal adoption thereafter.   

 
32. The overall strategy (see appendix 1) is based on the recommendations set 

out in the borough-wide audit of parks, open spaces and nature conservation 
sites.   

33. Once the strategy has been adopted, we will develop a detailed plan setting 
out how the vision and objectives of the strategy will be achieved through a 
series of targeted actions across the various components of the borough’s 
green and blue network (as outlined below).  

 Parks and open spaces 

 Waterways (including watercourses and waterbodies) 
 Flood risk and water management    
 Public realm and urban greening    

 Heritage and landscape   

 Biodiversity and geodiversity   

 Woodland and trees    

 Leisure and recreation  

 Active travel routes (e.g. cycling and walking)  
 

34. We intend to consult on the action plan once the mayoral elections have 
taken place in 2021. The actions and targets set out in the action plan will, in 
turn, support the effective day-to day operation and delivery of the council’s 
service areas, including events planning and on-going maintenance and 
management of council-run assets.   

 
Safeguarding Implications  

35. The publication of the draft Blue and Green Strategy does not have any direct 
safeguarding implications but implementing the projects identified in this 
strategy will need to be considered from a safeguarding perspective.  

 
Public Health Implications 

 

36. The vision of the strategy is for Enfield to be the greenest borough in London 
within ten years. If realised, this has the potential to improve health outcomes 
significantly for residents. Greener environments are associated with better 

Page 24



PL 20/05235P 

mental and physical health and enhanced quality of life for both children and 
adults. Greenspace can help to bind communities together, reduce loneliness, 
and mitigate the negative effects of air pollution, excessive noise, health and 
flooding.  

37. The strategy also seeks to direct new investment to deprived communities 
and poor-quality environments so that everyone can access open spaces and 
nature close to where they live and work. This is significant because 
disadvantaged groups appear to gain a larger health benefit and have 
reduced socioeconomic-related inequalities in health when living in greener 
communities, so greenspace and a greener urban environment can also be 
used as an important tool in the drive to build a fairer Enfield.  

38. Finally, the strategy aims to provide innovative activities to meet the needs of 
all users offering a great opportunity for green social prescribing, which can 
help people maintain a healthy weight, boost mental health and reduce 
inequalities. All of which will support Enfield’s drive to meet the strategic 
objectives of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

 
Equalities Impact on the Proposal  
 
39. We have a public sector duty under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 

to: 
 

 tackle discrimination and victimisation of persons that share the 
characteristics as protected under the act: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation; 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share those protected 
characteristics and people who do not; and 

 foster good relations between people who share those characteristics and 
people who do not.  

 
40. The Enfield Blue and Green Strategy sets out a strategic framework to 

support the creation of an integrated and high-quality network of open 
spaces, routes, habitats, woodland and waterspaces, so as to promote 
positive health and wellbeing outcomes, which can particularly benefit groups 
who share protected characteristics. The provision of accessible and high 
quality blue and green infrastructure will advance equality of opportunity 
among lower-income communities, residents with an existing health condition 
or disability, children and pregnant women, as well as helping to foster good 
community relations.  

 
41. The strategy recognises that blue-green infrastructure can make a significant 

contribution to addressing inequalities (especially in terms of improving 
access to open spaces and nature) and delivering better health outcomes. In 
this respect, the strategy closely aligns with the recommendations of the 
Enfield Poverty and Inequality Commission (January 2020). It will also help 
put the cross-cutting theme of achieving an ‘equal Enfield’ (as set out in the 
new Council Plan) into practice, ensuring equality considerations are built into 
decision making and planning process.  

Page 25



PL 20/05235P 

 
42. Consultation with a wide variety of residents and stakeholders, including 

those with protected characteristics or representing groups with protected 
characteristics, will help to further enhance our understanding of the equality 
impact of this proposal.   

 
Environmental & Climate Change Considerations 
 
43. The Blue and Green Strategy forms a central plank of the borough’s approach 

to climate change mitigation and adaptation set out in the Climate Action 
Plan.  

 
44. Progress towards the vision and aims of the strategy will, in turn, make a 

significant contribution to meeting the council’s targets of being a climate 
neutral organisation by 2030 and a climate neutral borough by 2040.  

 
45. The continued protection, maintenance and expansion of the blue and green 

infrastructure network through the implementation of this strategy will have a 
significant positive impact on environmental outcomes, particularly:  

 

 reduction in air pollution; 

 reduction in flood risk as part of sustainable urban drainage systems; 

 improvement to water quality and efficiency; 

 enhancing habitat and wildlife;   

 improving the perceptions of the borough as aesthetically pleasing; and 

 amelioration of high summer temperatures arising from urban heat island 
effect and climate change;  

 increasing tree canopy across the borough including urban areas and new 
woodland in the north which could offset up to 230 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
each year. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken  
 
Risk category  Risks  
Reputational: Failure to adopt an 
up-to-date parks and open 
spaces strategy (as agreed at 
EMT awayday on 25 June 2020) 

Lack of an up to date strategy will hamper 
efforts to deliver a multi-functional and 
integrated blue and green network on the 
ground, undermining efforts to deliver 
sustainable growth    

Risk of objections from Natural 
England and Conservators of 
Epping Forest to the new Local 
Plan and the determination of 
planning applications  

Enfield needs to demonstrate that it is taking 
a pro-active approach to managing the 
effects of recreational pressure and air 
quality from development on the Epping 
Forest SAC. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 
 
Key risk Action to mitigate 
Loss of momentum as projects 
move on  

Develop a detailed plan setting out the actions 
that will be taken to meet the objectives set 

Page 26



PL 20/05235P 

out in the strategy as well as those in other 
relevant plans and strategies and a series of 
monitoring targets to measure progress.    
 

 
Financial Implications  
 
46. Costs from undertaking the public consultation of the Blue and Green 

Strategy will be met from approved revenue budgets.   
 
Property Implications  
 
47. This report does not of itself commit the council to any expenditure on its 

property portfolio.  Any redevelopment proposal involving council-owned land 
and property assets will need to take account of the latest standards set out in 
the audit of green and blue spaces, which will raise the bar in terms of quality, 
quantity and accessibility of blue and green infrastructure provision, including 
urban greening, sustainable urban drainage and biodiversity net gain 
requirements (as set out in the London Environment Strategy, Environment 
Bill 2019-21 and new National Planning Policy Framework 2019). Such 
proposals will need to be subject to separate reports and full financial 
appraisal. 

 
 
Legal Implications  
 
48. The Blue and Green Strategy has been prepared in accordance with the 

regulatory requirements in respect of the need to avoid or mitigate any harm 
to the integrity of a nearby nature conservation site of international 
importance (Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation) as set out in the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  

 
49. The strategy has also been prepared in the context of the National Planning 

Policy Framework (paragraph 96) and Planning Practice Guidance (see 
reference ID: 8-007-20190721) which advise local authorities to prepare blue-
green infrastructure strategies to inform future provision within new 
development and  supplement policies relating the protection and 
enhancement of parks, open spaces, biodiversity, waterways and trees set 
out in Local Plans.  

 
50. The forthcoming consultation will be undertaken in line with best practice and 

the regulations.  
 
Workforce Implications  
 
51. The work to support the preparation of the draft strategy and the supporting 

evidence base can be covered through existing budgets. Officers have set up 
a working group with representatives from planning, healthy streets and 
environmental services to lead on the delivery of green and blue infrastructure 
on behalf of the council.   

 
Options Considered 

Page 27



PL 20/05235P 

 
52. The alternative would be to not update the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 

and the Biodiversity Action Plan.  However, these strategies are now 
significantly out of date and do not provide sufficient coverage of the 
borough’s network of spaces and assets, especially blue infrastructure.  
Putting in place an up-to-date strategy will ensure that new development and 
regeneration programmes in the borough accord with the new/emerging 
requirements set out in legislation, national and regional policies and the 
priorities set out in the Council Plan, as part of our response to covid-19 and 
the targets set out in the Climate Action Plan. The ‘business as usual option 
would also hamper cross-boundary working and limit the potential of the 
green and blue network to create attractive and cohesive places.  It would 
also undermine the council’s ability to deliver sustainable growth over the next 
10 years.  

 
53. Consulting on both the strategy and action plan at the same time would cause 

at least 6-month delay to the proposed timetable.  Early engagement on the 
strategy with relevant community groups and statutory agencies will ensure 
consensus can be reached on the shared vision and aims. The preparation of 
the action plan will require the input of specialist officers from all four 
directorates. 

 
Conclusions 
 
54. This report sets out our intention to publish a new strategy to facilitate and 

better coordinate the delivery of green and blue infrastructure across the 
borough in line with best practice. We are seeking approval to consult on the 
draft proposals and receive feedback from local communities and 
stakeholders.  

 

Report author: Philip Wadsworth 
 Infrastructure Delivery Manager 
 philip.wadsworth@enfield.gov.uk 
 Tel: 02081321815 
Date of report        28/10/2020 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Draft consultation version of the Enfield Blue & Green Strategy   
 
 
 

Page 28



Document is Restricted

Page 29
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Meridian Water Housing Infrastructure Fund - Approval to Award Rail Project Management Office for the Strategic Infrastructure Works
	Rail_PMO_PL 20.068 P Part 2 Finalised - 29 OCT 20

	2 Enfield Blue & Green Strategy
	Appendix 1 Enfield Blue  Green Strategy


